**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

Appeal from Spartanburg County
Court of Common Pleas

Grace Gilchrist Knie, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

AUG 13 2020

SC Court of Appeals

Case No. 2018-CP-42-04405
Appellate Case No. 2019-001731

The Estate of Mary Solesbee, by her personal
representative, Connie Bayne,

Respondent,

v.

Fundamental Clinical and Operational Services, LLC;
Fundamental Administrative Services, LLC; THI of
South Carolina at Magnolia Manor-Inman, LLC d/b/a
Magnolia Manor-Inman; Inpatient Consultants of North
Carolina, P.C.; and Angela Brown, ACNP,

Defendants,

Of which Fundamental Clinical and Operational

INTRODUCTION

This appeal comes to the Court in the context of a wrongful death and survival action that arose out of alleged nursing home negligence. At bottom, it is an appeal of the trial court's denial of the Facility's¹ motion to compel arbitration. The Other Appellants² are appellants simply by virtue of their respective motions to stay the lawsuit pending the arbitration the Facility sought to compel. Insofar as the trial court was concerned, the Other Appellants' motions were mooted by its denial of the Facility's motion. Appellants' fates are likewise related in this Court. Unless the Facility's appeal is successful, the Other Appellants' appeals are moot.

In denying the Facility's motion, the trial court found the subject Arbitration Agreement wholly unenforceable against Plaintiff³—adding, however, that even if it were enforceable as to Plaintiff's *survival* claims, it could not be enforced as to Plaintiff's *wrongful death* claims. The trial court also denied the Facility's alternative request to be allowed to conduct—without waiving its right to arbitration—limited discovery, targeted at the facts bearing on arbitrability.

¹ The “Facility” is Defendant/Appellant THI of South Carolina at Magnolia Manor-Inman, LLC, d/b/a Magnolia Manor-Inman, a skilled nursing facility in Spartanburg County.

² The “Other Appellants” are Defendants/Appellants Fundamental Clinical and Operational Services, LLC, and Fundamental Administrative Services, LLC. “Appellants” refers to the Facility and the Other Appellants, collectively.

³ “Plaintiff” is Plaintiff/Respondent, Connie Bayne (also referred to herein as “Ms. Bayne”), as personal representative of the estate of her mother, Mary Solesbee (“Ms. Solesbee”).

Respectfully, the trial court erred in not finding the Arbitration Agreement enforceable against Plaintiff based on merger/equitable estoppel (not only as to the survival claims but also the wrongful death claims) or, at least, in not granting the Facility's alternative request for targeted discovery on the issue of arbitrability. And as to the Other Appellants, this lawsuit should have been (and should be) stayed until the arbitrability issue is finally decided and any/all arbitration proceedings are concluded.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial court err in denying the Facility's motion to compel arbitration (and, by extension, the Other Appellants' motions for a stay pending arbitration)?**
 - A. Should the trial court have granted the Facility's primary request for relief, i.e., should it have found the Arbitration Agreement enforceable, immediately halted this litigation, and compelled all claims against the Facility (survival and wrongful death) to arbitration?**
 - (1) Should the trial court have found the Arbitration Agreement enforceable based on merger/equitable estoppel?**
 - (2) Should the trial court have found the Arbitration Agreement enforceable not only as to the survival claims but also as to the wrongful death claims?**
 - B. Assuming, *arguendo*, the trial court did not err in denying the Facility's primary request for relief, should it have granted the Facility's secondary request for relief, i.e., should it have allowed the Facility to conduct targeted discovery on the issue of arbitrability?**

II. Did the trial court err in denying the Other Appellants' motions to stay this lawsuit pending arbitration of the claims against the Facility?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Factual Background

With the help of her son, Allen Dover ("Mr. Dover"), Ms. Solesbee, was admitted to the Facility on June 27, 2016. (See R. pp. 104, 138–39 ¶¶ 1–3 & 5, 165–76.) In conjunction with Ms. Solesbee's admission, Mr. Dover signed a number of documents on her behalf, including an Admission Agreement and an Arbitration Agreement. (R. pp. 104, 165–76.)

In pertinent part, the Arbitration Agreement provides as follows:

PLEASE READ CAREFULLY

**FACILITY – RESIDENT/REPRESENTATIVE
ARBITRATION AGREEMENT**

This Agreement is made between Magnolia Manor Inman ("Facility"), its agents, employees and servants, and Mary Solesbee ("Resident") or Allen Dover ("Resident's Durable Power of Attorney for Health Care"/"Resident's Legal Guardian"/"Resident's Responsible Party" hereinafter collectively "Representative"). It is the intention of the parties to this Agreement to bind not only themselves, but also their successors, assigns, heirs, personal representatives, guardians or any persons deriving their claims through or on behalf of Resident.

[A]ny controversy or dispute between the parties arising out of or relating to Facility's Admission

Agreement, or breach thereof, or relating in any way to Resident's stay at Facility, or to the provisions of care or services to Resident, including but not limited to any alleged tort, personal injury, negligence or other claim; or any federal or state statutory or regulatory claim of any kind; or whether or not there has been a violation of any right or rights granted under State law (collectively "Disputes"), and the parties are unable to resolve such through negotiation, then the parties agree that such Dispute(s) shall be resolved by arbitration^[4]

The parties acknowledge and agree that, because the services and reimbursement thereof effects a transaction that involves interstate commerce, the enforcement of this Arbitration Agreement is not subject to the South Carolina Uniform Arbitration Act and shall be governed by the Federal Arbitration Act (Title 9 of the United States Code), notwithstanding any contrary provision of this Agreement or contrary state law.^[5]

I understand and agree that I am giving up and

⁴ There is no dispute here about whether Plaintiff's claims against the Facility are within the scope of the Arbitration Agreement. They are.

⁵ There is no dispute here about whether the Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. §§ 1–16 (the "FAA"), applies to the Arbitration Agreement. It does. *See Allied–Bruce Terminix Cos., Inc. v. Dobson*, 513 U.S. 265, 273–77 (1995) (explaining that unless the parties specifically contract otherwise, the FAA applies whenever an arbitration agreement involves interstate commerce); *Dean v. Heritage Healthcare of Ridgeway, LLC*, 408 S.C. 371, 381, 759 S.E.2d 727, 732 (2014) ("Since the Supreme Court decided *Allied–Bruce*, many—if not all—federal and state courts have held that nursing home residency contracts similar to the one at issue here implicate interstate commerce and the FAA. Generally, these holdings center on a common theme: nursing home residency contracts usually entail providing residents with meals and medical supplies that are inevitably shipped across state lines from out-of-state vendors. We likewise find the terms of the residency agreement implicate interstate commerce and, thus, the FAA.") (footnote omitted).

waiving my right to a jury trial.

This Agreement shall remain in effect for all care rendered at Facility and shall survive any termination or breach of this Agreement or the Admission Agreement. By his/her signature below, the executing party represents that he/she has the authority to sign on Resident's behalf so as to bind the Resident as well as the Representative.

(R. p. 104 (bold print and underlines in original) ("Magnolia Manor Inman," "Mary Solesbee," and "Allen Dover" handwritten in original).)

Ms. Solesbee remained a resident of the Facility until July 14, 2016, when she was transported to the hospital, where she passed away on August 1, 2016. (R. p. 33 ¶ 9.) According to Plaintiff, Ms. Solesbee's death was "a direct and proximate result of . . . sepsis resulting from [an] improperly treated leg wound and infection" that was not properly recognized and treated while she was a resident of the Facility. (R. p. 34 ¶ 19.)

Procedural Background

Alleging negligence in Ms. Solesbee's care/treatment at the Facility, Plaintiff filed this wrongful death and survival action in the Spartanburg County Court of Common Pleas on December 27, 2018. (*See* R. pp. 10–29.) The operative complaint is Plaintiff's amended complaint, filed January 3, 2019. (R. pp. 30–45.) The Facility filed its motion to compel arbitration on February 22, 2019, based on the Arbitration Agreement Mr. Dover signed for Ms. Solesbee. (R.

pp. 101–04.)⁶

The parties submitted their respective briefs for⁷ and against⁸ the motion, and following a hearing on August 16, 2019,⁹ the trial court denied the Facility’s motion to compel arbitration by order filed September 11, 2019, the Honorable Grace Gilchrist Knie presiding. (See R. pp. 1–9.)¹⁰ By notice served October 11, 2019, this appeal timely follows. (See R. pp. 177–80.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A circuit court’s determination of whether a claim is subject to arbitration is reviewed de novo on appeal. *Gissel v. Hart*, 382 S.C. 235, 240, 676 S.E.2d 320, 323 (2009). This includes de novo review of the determination of whether an arbitration agreement is enforceable against a nonsignatory. *Wilson v. Willis*, 426 S.C. 326, 334, 827 S.E.2d 167, 172 (2019). “Under de novo review, a circuit court’s factual findings will not be reversed on appeal if any evidence reasonably supports those findings.” *Id.* Issues of law, however, are reviewed without any particular deference to the lower court. *See, e.g., Duke Energy Corp. v. S.C. Dep’t of Revenue*, 415 S.C. 351, 782 S.E.2d 590 (2016). Moreover, even where a ruling

⁶ The Other Appellants filed their motions to stay on August 9, 2019. (See R. pp. 105–08.)

⁷ (R. pp. 140–64.)

⁸ (R. pp. 109–29.)

⁹ (See generally R. pp. 62–100.) The Other Appellants’ motions to stay were also heard at this time. (R. pp. 66:7–69:16.)

is on a matter within the trial court's discretion, if the ruling is based on a misunderstanding of the law, rather than upon the exercise of discretion, the question presented on appeal is one of law. *See Bain v. Self Mem'l Hosp.*, 281 S.C. 138, 152, 314 S.E.2d 603, 611 (Ct. App. 1984).

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court erred in denying the Facility's motion to compel arbitration (and, by extension, the Other Appellants' motions for a stay pending arbitration).

A. The trial court should have granted the Facility's primary request for relief, i.e., it should have found the Arbitration Agreement enforceable, immediately halted this litigation, and compelled all claims against the Facility (survival and wrongful death) to arbitration.

(1) The trial court should have found the Arbitration Agreement enforceable based on merger/equitable estoppel.

In opposition to the Facility's motion to compel arbitration, Plaintiff argued that the Arbitration Agreement was unenforceable because Ms. Solesbee herself did not sign it and (despite his representation to the contrary in the Arbitration Agreement itself) Mr. Dover did not have legal authority to sign it for her. (*See R.* pp. 82:18–83:19, 112–17.) While acknowledging that it was presently (on the limited record available) unable to establish a true agency (either actual or

¹⁰ This order effectively disposed of the Other Appellants' motions to stay, too, though not on the merits.

apparent) on the part of Mr. Dover,¹¹ the Facility argued that the Arbitration Agreement was enforceable nonetheless because it should properly be viewed as merged with the Admission Agreement, and Ms. Solesbee having received benefits under the Admission Agreement, Plaintiff should be equitably estopped from denying the enforceability of the Arbitration Agreement with which the Admission Agreement was merged. (R. pp. 74:25–78:11, 153–59.)

Citing *Wilson*, 426 S.C. 326, 827 S.E.2d 167, the trial court rejected the Facility’s argument, finding that Ms. Solesbee was not a *direct* beneficiary, but merely an *indirect* beneficiary, and thus the Facility could not enforce the Arbitration Agreement against Plaintiff based on equitable estoppel. (*See* R. p. 4.) The finding that Ms. Solesbee was only an indirect beneficiary effectively mooted the question of merger in the trial court, because, under *Wilson*, “when the benefits to a nonsignatory are merely indirect, arbitration cannot be compelled;”¹² in other words, “when the benefits to a nonsignatory are merely indirect,” the question of merger is immaterial—either way, “arbitration cannot be compelled.” Respectfully, the trial court is mistaken, and it should have found that the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement merged and, given Ms. Solesbee’s receipt of *direct* benefits under the Admission Agreement, Plaintiff should be equitably estopped from denying the enforceability of the Arbitration

¹¹ (*See* R. p. 69:3–20, p. 74:3–24.)

Agreement.

“South Carolina has recognized several theories that could bind nonsignatories to arbitration agreements under general principles of contract and agency law, including (1) incorporation by reference, (2) assumption, (3) agency, (4) veil piercing/alter ego, and (5) *estoppel*.” *Wilson*, 426 S.C. at 338, 827 S.E.2d at 174; *see also Coleman v. Mariner Health Care, Inc.*, 407 S.C. 346, 354–355, 755 S.E.2d 450, 455 (2014) (confirming the validity of the general proposition of law on which the appellants therein based their merger/equitable estoppel argument: “Appellants’ equitable estoppel argument is premised on their contention that, under state law, the admission agreements and the [arbitration agreements] merged. . . . [T]he documents were executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purposes, and in the course of the same transaction. *Unless there is a contrary intention, appellants are correct that there was a merger.*”) (emphasis added).

As the *Coleman* Court stated, “The general rule is that, in the absence of anything indicating a contrary intention, where instruments are executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purpose, and in the course of the same transaction, the courts will consider and construe the documents together. The theory is that the instruments are effectively one instrument or contract.” 407 S.C.

¹² *Id.* at 343, 827 S.E.2d at 176.

at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (quoting *Klutts Resort Realty, Inc. v. Down'Round Dev. Corp.*, 268 S.C. 80, 88, 232 S.E.2d 20, 24 (1977)).

The merger question thus examines whether, “where instruments are executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purpose, and in the course of the same transaction,”¹³ as the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement were here, there is evidence to upset the presumption of merger. This is a question of the parties’ intention. *Id.* at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (“in the absence of anything indicating a contrary *intention* . . .”) (emphasis added). “[I]n attempting to ascertain th[e] [parties’] intention,” the Court “endeavor[s] to determine the situation of the parties, as well as their purposes, at the time the contract was entered into.” *Klutts*, 268 S.C. at 89, 232 S.E.2d at 25.

It must be remembered that, where, as here, the instruments in question were executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purpose, and in the course of the same transaction, *merger is presumed*. For this presumption to mean anything in practice, it cannot be upset based on mere conjecture, but only on actual evidence that—notwithstanding the circumstances giving rise to the merger presumption (same time, parties, purpose, and transaction)—can support a reasonable, non-speculative inference that the parties’ intention was contrary to merger. *Cf. The Huffines Co., LLC v. Lockhart*, 365 S.C. 178, 188, 617 S.E.2d

¹³ *Id.* at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455.

125, 130 (Ct. App. 2005) (“[V]erdicts may not be permitted to rest upon surmise, conjecture, or speculation.”). No such inference can be drawn here.

The “Entire Agreement” clause in the Admission Agreement expressly states that other admissions materials are deemed a part of it. (R. p. 176.) While the Arbitration Agreement was not *required* for Ms. Solesbee’s admission to the Facility, all this means is that it did not have to be agreed to for her to be admitted, i.e., the Arbitration Agreement did not have to be executed at all. It does not mean that the Arbitration Agreement did not become a part of the admissions materials once it was in fact agreed to. In other words, even though the Arbitration Agreement was not a *condition* of admission, it certainly was agreed to in *conjunction* with admission; whereupon, it was intended to be considered and construed together with the Admission Agreement, such that the two were effectively one instrument governing various interrelated aspects of Ms. Solesbee’s relationship with the Facility: the Admission Agreement setting forth the terms of her admission, the Arbitration Agreement providing for arbitration of disputes arising out of her admission.

Indeed, the fact that the Arbitration Agreement was not required for admission underscores its connectedness to the Admission Agreement. The two go together hand in glove. Without the hand (the Admission Agreement), there is no reason for the glove (the Arbitration Agreement). The Arbitration Agreement only

makes sense together with the Admission Agreement, which is its (the Arbitration Agreement's) sole reason for being.

The fact that the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement have their own titles, are separately paginated, and are separately signed provides no reasonable inference of an intent contrary to merger. To point to such things is to do no more than to point out that the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement are separate instruments, a fact which does not actually suggest anything probative about the intent of the contracting parties as to whether they should be construed together. Indeed, the question of merger will not arise in the first place *unless multiple instruments are involved*. Obviously, it cannot be the case that the mere existence of the necessary factual predicate for the question of merger to arise, i.e., separate instruments, shows an intention contrary to merger.

Moreover, to fall back on the idea that any ambiguity in this regard must be construed against the Facility as the drafter makes no sense in this context. Again, where, as here, the instruments in question are signed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purpose, in the course of the same transaction, merger is presumed. The plain language of the rule endorsed in *Coleman* is to the effect that to upset the merger presumption requires evidence “indicating [(i.e., affirmatively showing)] a contrary intention.” 407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455. To allow the merger presumption to be upset based on evidence that is at best ambiguous—i.e.,

that does not even go so far as to clearly indicate a contrary intention—is to allow the exception to devour the rule.

Properly viewing the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement as merged, the trial court should have found Plaintiff equitably estopped from denying the validity of the Arbitration Agreement under the “direct benefits” test our Supreme Court endorsed in *Wilson*, 426 S.C. 326, 827 S.E.2d 167. The *Wilson* Court favorably discussed the framework of the direct benefits test—which test the Court of Appeals had applied in the decision then before the *Wilson* Court on writ of certiorari, which followed the Court of Appeals’ earlier decision in *Pearson v. Hilton Head Hospital*, 400 S.C. 281, 733 S.E.2d 597 (Ct. App. 2012), and under which the Facility contends Plaintiff is estopped from refusing to comply with the Arbitration Agreement here. *Wilson*, 426 S.C. at 340–345, 827 S.E.2d at 175–177; *see also id.* at 340, 827 S.E.2d at 175 n.6 (while expressing no opinion on the petitioner’s alternative argument based on the application of the state’s “traditional” six-factor test for estoppel, which the *Wilson* Court found unpreserved for review, observing nonetheless that that test, i.e., “[t]he traditional test referenced by [the] [p]etitioners,” “has been analyzed most-often in *non*-arbitration cases”) (emphasis added). “Under direct benefits estoppel, ‘[a] nonsignatory is estopped from refusing to comply with an arbitration clause ‘when it receives a direct benefit from a contract containing an arbitration clause.’” *Pearson*, 400 S.C.

at 290, 733 S.E.2d at 601 (quoting *Int'l Paper Co. v. Schwabedissen Maschinen & Anlagen GMBH*, 206 F.3d 411, 418 (4th Cir. 2000)).

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