RECEIVED

Aug 14 2020

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Grace Gilchrist Knie, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-001731

The Estate of Mary Solesbee, by her Respondent
personal representative Connie Bayne,

v.

Fundamental Clinical and Operational
Services, LLC; Fundamental Administrative
Services, LLC; THI of South Carolina at
Magnolia Manor-Inman d/b/a Magnolia
Manor-Inman; Inpatient Consultants of
North Carolina, P.C.; and Angela Brown
ACNP, Defendants,

Of which Fundamental Clinical and
Operational Services, LLC, Fundamental
Administrative Services, LLC, THI of

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

so over just the last ten years. While some jurisdictions have taken a contrary view⁷, South Carolina's statutory language and case law discussed above are more in line with the states that refuse to compel arbitration under similar circumstances. In the aggregate, to the extent the Court looks beyond South Carolina law, persuasive authority supports the circuit court's order.

The en banc Missouri Supreme Court addressed a similar case in Lawrence v. Beverly Manor. Similar to the Arbitration Agreement, the contract in Lawrence purported to bind both a nursing home resident and "all persons whose claim is derived through or on behalf" of the resident including family members, legal representatives, and heirs. Id. Shortly after admission, the nursing home's staff members allegedly dropped the mother and caused fatal injuries. Id. Just like this case, the family filed wrongful death and other legal claims, the nursing home cited the contract in an effort to compel arbitration, and the trial court denied the motion. Id. at 526-27.

The Missouri Supreme Court affirmed, finding wrongful death is not derived from any claim the resident may have had at or before her death. Id. at 529. All of the key components cited in Lawrence to show a wrongful death is not derivative are also present under South Carolina law. Lawrence started by reviewing the wrongful death statute's language. Id. at 527 (quoting Mo. Rev. Stat. § 537.080). Missouri's statute is substantially similar to its South Carolina counterpart, and Lawrence interpreted that language to create a new cause of action that is distinct from survival claims and not a transmitted right from a decedent to her family members. Lawrence, 273 S.W.3d

355-58 (Ill. 2012); Ping v. Beverly Enters., Inc., 376 S.W.3d 581 (Ky. 2012); Woodall v. Avalon Care Center-Federal Way, LLC, 231 P.3d 1252 (Wash. App. 2010); Lawrence v. Beverly Manor, 273 S.W.3d 525 (Mo. 2009); Bybee v. Abdulla, 189 P.3d 40 (Utah 2008); Peters v. Columbus Steel Castings Co., 873 N.E.2d 1258, 1262 (Ohio 2007); Chapman v. Cardiac Pacemakers, Inc., 673 P.2d 385 (Idaho 1983); see also Strickholm v. Evangelical Lutheran Good Samaritan Soc'y, Case No. 4:11-CV-00059-BLW, 2011 WL 2532395 (D. Idaho June 24, 2011).

⁷ E.g. Laizure v. Avante at Leesburg, Inc., 109 So.3d 752 (Fla. 2013); In re Labatt Food Serv., L.P., 279 S.W.3d 640 (Tex. 2009); Briarcliff Nursing Home, Inc. v. Turcotte, 894 So.2d 661 (Ala. 2004); Ballard v. Southwest Detroit Hosp., 327 N.W.2d 370 (Mich. App. 1982).

at 527. South Carolina precedent makes these same points. Weaver, 348 S.C. at 678, 561 S.E.2d at 363 (“[t]he wrongful death statute . . . created a new cause of action”); Keel, 114 S.E. at 762 (wrongful death and survival claims are “separable and distinct”). Considering both the statutory language and precedent, Lawrence concluded a wrongful death claim is “separate and distinct.” 273 S.W.3d at 528. Its holding was buttressed by the fact that Missouri wrongful death claims compensate different people for different losses. Id. at 528-29. South Carolina cites the same factors to highlight a wrongful death claim’s independence. Scott, 340 S.C. at 168-70, 530 S.E.2d at 394-95 (listing available damages in wrongful death and survival claims); In re Mayo’s Estate, 38 S.E. at 638 (finding “object, scope, and measure of damages” in wrongful death claims is “wholly different”).

Lawrence followed and was soon joined by a number of other states in rejecting the notion that a nursing home resident could contract away a jury trial on a wrongful death claim compensating her family members or heirs for their unique damages. These cases often point to a common set of factors to show a wrongful death claim is not derivative of the decedent’s claims. First, a wrongful death claim is likely not derivative when wrongful death and survival are expressly distinguished in the statutes. Pisano, 77 A.3d at 656 (reading statutes to mean “two separate and distinct causes of action arise from a single injury” resulting in death); see also Woodall v. Avalon Care Center-Federal Way, LLC, 231 P.3d 1252 (Wash. App. 2010) (describing wrongful death and survival as “conceptually different”). Second, the two claims should be viewed as separate when they are brought by different people to compensate different individuals for different losses. In Estate of Decamacho ex rel. Guthrie v. La Solana Care & Rehab, Inc., an Arizona appellate cited the different claimants, different beneficiaries, and different damages as definitive proof a wrongful death statute “confers an original and distinct claim” and is neither

“derived from nor is it a continuation of claims which formerly existed in a decedent.” 316 P.3d 607, 613 (Ariz. Ct. App. 2014); see also FutureCare NorthPoint, LLC v. Peeler, 143 A.3d 191, 203 (Md. App. 2016) (holding that survival and wrongful death claims are distinct because they are “by different persons, the damages go into different channels, and are recovered upon different grounds”); Ping v. Beverly Enters., Inc., 376 S.W.3d 581, 599 (Ky. 2012) (concluding wrongful death is independent claim in part because it belongs to the beneficiaries and is “meant to compensate them for their own pecuniary loss”).

Third, many of these opinions find wrongful death to be a non-derivative claim because it accrues at a different time than a survival claim. In Carter v. SSC Odin Operating Co, LLC, the Illinois Supreme Court concluded wrongful death is independent because it “does not accrue until death” while the state’s survival statute “simply allows a representative . . . to maintain those . . . actions that had already accrued.” 976 N.E.2d 344, 354 (Ill. 2012); see also Boler, 336 P.3d at 477; Peters v. Columbus Steel Castings Co., 873 N.E.2d 1258, 1262 (Ohio 2007) (finding decedent’s wrongful death claim “accrued independently to his beneficiaries for the injuries they personally suffered”). In other words, a wrongful death claim does not accrue or, as one court put it, “vest” in the statutory beneficiaries until the decedent’s death. Strickholm v. Evangelical Lutheran Good Samaritan Soc’y, Case No. 4:11-CV-00059-BLW, 2011 WL 2532395 (D. Idaho June 24, 2011).

Finally, these cases show the error in Appellants’ interpretation of a “derivative” claim. The Arbitration Agreement purports to extend to people deriving their claim through Ms. Solesbee. Appellants seem to argue wrongful death is sufficiently derivative because S.C. Code Ann. § 15-51-10 permits a wrongful death claim only if the decedent could have brought a claim for the same harm before she died. Many cases from other states cited above found wrongful death was not a derivative claim despite statutes like section 15-51-10. Boler, 336 P.3d at 472-77; Carter, 976

N.E.2d at 358-59; Woodall, 231 P.3d at 1259 (“characterizing the wrongful death claims as ‘derivative’ does not support the proposition that the heirs must arbitrate their claims for wrongful death”). By arguing that a statute like section 15-51-10 was enough to force a wrongful death claim to arbitration, Carter found parties like Appellants “overstate[] the significance of the derivative nature of a wrongful-death action” especially where, here as in Carter, there is extensive case law and structural differences demonstrating wrongful death is an independent claim. Similarly, Boler held that while a statute like 15-51-10 might make wrongful death “partially derivative” in a limited sense, it would still be improper to compel arbitration since wrongful death accrues separately and compensates statutory beneficiaries directly for their personal losses. 336 P. 3d at 472, 477 (finding a resident’s signature could not compel arbitration on wrongful death claim unless that claim was “wholly derivative”); see also Pisano, 77 A.3d at 659-60 (providing detailed discussion of definition for “derivative” and rejecting arbitration because while wrongful death claims are inherently “derivative of the decedent’s injuries,” they “are not derivative of decedent’s rights”).

In sum, persuasive authority does not support Appellants’ argument that South Carolina’s wrongful death claim is “derivative” such that a nursing home resident’s agreement to arbitrate applies to a wrongful death claim. A dozen states have considered statutes similar to section 15-51-10 and found wrongful death is a distinct, independent claim.

4. The Facility was not Denied the Opportunity to Conduct Discovery and May Not ask the Courts to Preemptively Rule on Waiver.

The Facility suggests the circuit court unreasonably tied its hands in discovery and prevented it from accessing essential information to support arbitration.⁸ That argument could

⁸ Regardless of the justiciability issues and substantive flaws discussed below, the Court should dismiss this argument for lack of appellate jurisdiction. Discovery orders are interlocutory and not

wield a measure of intuitive heft except that the Facility's right to conduct discovery was never threatened and is not really what it seeks here. Instead, what the Facility's counsel sought from the circuit court was a prophylactic assurance that choosing to engage in discovery would not later lead the circuit court to find the Facility waived its right to pursue arbitration. This was a request the Facility was not permitted to make.

Neither the procedural rules nor its opponent's conduct prevented the Facility from conducting discovery. The Facility had the right to serve written discovery requests and to notice depositions from the moment Respondent filed her Complaint with the Spartanburg County Clerk of Court. Rule 30(a)(1), SCRCF (permitting depositions "[a]fter commencement of an action"); Rule 33(a), SCRCF (same for serving interrogatories); Rule 34(b), SCRCF (same for serving requests for production); see also Rule 3(a), SCRCF (stating that a civil action is "commenced" when the complaint is filed if later served within the statute of limitations). The rules specifically provide that a party need not seek a court's permission before serving discovery requests. Rule 33(a), SCRCF; Rule 34(b), SCRCF. Plus, it is not as if the Facility tried and failed or was somehow thwarted in seeking information from Respondent. The record contains no discovery requests Respondent ignored and no subpoenas to which she objected. The Facility lacks the information it claims now to need only because the Facility never asked for it.⁹

The Facility does not contest that it was fully within its power to obtain information from Respondent or others before moving to compel arbitration. (R. p. 72, lines 18-19), Tr. of Record 11:18-19. Instead, the Facility's concern relates to the possible consequences of pursuing

otherwise immediately appealable because they do not involve the merits of an action or affect a substantive right. Grosshuesch v. Cramer, 377 S.C. 12, 30, 659 S.E.2d 112, 122 (2008); Rule 201(a), SCACR (limiting appeals to a final judgments and appealable orders).

⁹ The Facility also refused to comply with all of Respondent's discovery requests, each time refusing to respond based on the pending motion to compel arbitration. Tr. of Record at 30:16-22.

discovery. South Carolina law holds that a party may waive any right it may have to pursue arbitration if it first chooses to litigate in a way that would render a shift to arbitration prejudicial to its opponent. Johnson v. Heritage Healthcare of Estill, LLC, 416 S.C. 508, 513, 788 S.E.2d 216, 218 (2016); Dean, 408 S.C. at 388, 759 S.E.2d at 736. The point at which a party delves too deeply into litigation to assert a right to arbitrate varies because the analysis is heavily fact driven. Johnson, 416 S.C. at 513, 788 S.E.2d at 219 (citing Liberty Builders, Inc. v. Horton, 336 S.C. 658, 665, 521 S.E.2d 749, 753 (Ct. App. 1999)). In any given case, a party seeking arbitration faces uncertainty in knowing when it is vulnerable to a waiver argument, and the opposing party is uncertain when it may become necessary to assert one.

What the Facility now calls its request for discovery was actually its improper effort to eliminate its uncertainty at Respondent's expense. The Facility sought assurances from the circuit court that choosing to conduct discovery would not expose it to a waiver argument. (R. p. 94, lines 4-5), Tr. of Record 33:4-5. This request did not present an issue any court could resolve in the Facility's favor. No South Carolina court can address the merits of a party's argument unless it presents a justiciable claim. Lennon v. S.C. Coastal Council, 330 S.C. 414, 417-18, 498 S.E.2d 906, 908 (Ct. App. 1998). South Carolina courts cite the "case or controversy" requirement in the U.S. Constitution's Article III and apply federal standards for identifying a justiciable controversy. Id.; Waters v. S.C. Land Resources Conservation Comm'n, 321 S.C. 219, 227-28, 467 S.E.2d 913, 917-18 (1996). A claim is justiciable only if it presents a "real and substantial controversy which is ripe and appropriate for judicial determination, as distinguished from a contingent, hypothetical or abstract dispute." Sloan v. Greenville Cnty., 356 S.C. 531, 552, 590 S.E.2d 338, 349 (Ct. App. 2003). Justiciability specifically considers a party's standing as well as the suitability of the dispute

for resolution. Courts may not address claims that are unripe, moot, or seek an advisory opinion. Jowers v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control, 423 S.C. 343, 815 S.E.2d 446 (2018).

Here, the Facility lacked standing to assert a discovery argument that was both unripe and sought an advisory opinion. The Facility argues it was denied its “request” for discovery (Appellants’ Br. at 22) but it lacks standing to assert this claim. Under South Carolina law, standing may be acquired by satisfying the requirements of “constitutional standing” derived from federal constitutional principles. ATC South, Inc. v. Charleston Cnty., 380 S.C. 191, 195, 669 S.E.2d 337, 339 (2008). The Facility cannot meet those requirements for its discovery-based argument. Constitutional standing demands a concrete and particularized “injury-in-fact,” a causal connection between the injury and the conduct complained of, and a finding that the injury will likely be redressed by a ruling in the injured party’s favor. Id. (quoting Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 560-61 (1992)). The Facility has not suffered any concrete and particularized injury. The rules authorized the precise action—serving discovery requests—the Facility claims it was denied. Rules 30(a)(1), 33(a), and 34(b), SCRPC. The Facility cannot claim to be injured by its own decision to forego a right the law unconditionally provided.

The Facility also cannot meet the remaining constitutional standing requirements. There is no causal connection between the proposed injury (i.e. a lack of discovery) and either Respondent’s conduct or the circuit court’s order. Neither denied the Facility the right to conduct discovery before filing its motion to compel arbitration. Nor can the Facility meet the redressability requirement. Given the rules’ repeated statements that discovery requests may be made “without leave of court,”¹⁰ it is not at all clear it would ever be appropriate for a party in the Facility’s position to ask a circuit court to grant leave to conduct discovery.

¹⁰ Rule 33(a), SCRPC; Rule 34(b), SCRPC.

When the true nature of the Facility's request is revealed, other justiciability issues arise. In one telling exchange with the circuit court, the Facility's counsel admitted it was his fear of the potential consequences, not any conduct by Respondent or any ruling by the circuit court, that kept the Facility from exercising its discovery rights. Nothing in the Facility's request was about getting discovery it was allegedly denied; it was all about making the Facility more comfortable in opposing any argument of waiver. The Facility's attorney specifically asked the circuit court to find any discovery the Facility chose to perform would, as a matter of law, not subject it to waiver argument. (R. p. 94, lines 3-5), Tr. of Record 33:3-5 (asking circuit court to rule that "if you [conduct discovery], it will not be a waiver").

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